Greek Catholic Church of Saint Paraskeva in Kwiatoń

The first mention of the village owned by the Gładysz family comes from 1423. In 1480, it was already mentioned as a settlement under Vlach law, which makes it one of the oldest reorganized settlements in the Western Lemko region. From the beginning of the 17th century, the church in Kwiatoń remained a filial (‘daughter’) church of the parish in Uście Ruskie (Uście Gorlickie). At that time, the village belonged to the Tarłów family. Later it was owned by Marcin of Rybno – Chorąży of Łomża, and Kasper of Rzeplin – Podczaszy of Przemyśl. After 1782, it went into the hands of the Wiktor and Trzeciecki families successively. After the displacement of the population in the years 1945–1947, the temple was taken over by the Roman Catholic Church, becoming a filial church of the parish in Uście Gorlickie.

The existing church was built around the middle of the 17th century (according to information published in the annual of the Greek Catholic clergy in 1700). It was expanded with a tower in the western body of the church in 1742. It was renovated again in 1811, and a couple of times later. It is classified as a North-Western Lemko church. It is a three-part structure consisting of a nave and a sanctuary (matroneum), with a sacristy at the northern wall of the sanctuary and a vestibule in front of the matroneum. The three main parts of the temple are built on a square-like plan, in an axial arrangement. The bell tower is a post-and-beam structure (with zachata – additional space – at the base) that houses a log-structured matroneum and the vestibule. The sanctuary is closed with a straight wall. Inside, there is a structural dome and four-pillar vaults; in the matroneum and the vestibule, there are board ceilings with a sealing cove. The roofs have the same form: over the nave – a three-tiered one, over the sanctuary – two-tiered. The bell tower is crowned with a Baroque cupola covered with shingles. There are similar spherical roofs above the nave and sanctuary. At the top, there are iron, blacksmith's crosses. All the roofs and walls are covered with shingles. The belfry, sacristy walls, roof recesses, and sanctuary are boarded with vertical planks. All the windows are rectangular: three in the southern elevation, two in the north, and two smaller windows in the eastern elevation. The choir goes around the interior of the matroneum along the northern, western, and southern walls, continuing on the western wall of the nave. There is a full, arcaded balustrade, with ornamental polychrome. The main, jamb entrance portal to the church, with a decoratively profiled lintel (leżuch), is located on the axis of the western wall of the matroneum. The church has a wooden fence with a pair of wooden frame-structured gates on the western side, covered with shingled copula-like roofs.

The basic furnishings of the church – the iconostasis, prestol from the ciborium, and wall paintings were created in 1904 with the participation and under the supervision of the painter Michał Bogdański and wood carver Andrzej Szajna. On the prestol, there is a printed antimins of the Uniate Bishop of Przemyśl, Jan Małachowski, probably consecrated after 1679, because the bishop had previously used hand-painted antiminsia (for the church in Pętna, among others). What is interesting is that the Kotań antimins was imprinted from a modified woodcut block (the modified dedicatory inscription located in the lower part) of the Przemyśl Orthodox Bishop Antoni Winnicki (1650-1679).

Wall polychrome covers surfaces of all the walls, vaults, and ceilings in the vestibule, matroneum, nave, and sanctuary. It was prepared with oil and the tempera grassa technique. Under the primer, there are joints of beams and boards glued with strips of canvas. The complex of monumental paintings consists of figural-silhouette representations and depictions in painting areas separated by ornamental bordures and architectural frames. The paintings form a coherent iconographic program that complements the themes emerging from the panel paintings that can be found in the church's furnishings. Illusionist paintings imitating colorful, marble, cladding panels, divided with plinths, friezes, pilasters, and consoles, decorated in crowns, tops, and monochrome keystones, shaped based on colors with silhouettes of angels, cherubim, palmettes, and vases, are of great artistic value and use forms characteristic for classicism (in terms of their style). Friezes, pedestals, pilasters, and ornamental strips emphasize the tectonics of individual rooms: architectural divisions, window openings, and portals; they form the bases of vaults and ceilings, serving as the background and frame of figural paintings and the iconostasis. Figural paintings are shaped in a realistic way, with great technical skills. All inscriptions, including the foundation inscription incorporated into the representation, are in Cyrillic. On the vault of the sanctuary, there is an image of Sabaoth – the Lord of Hosts (God the Father) on a cloud, surrounded by Cherubim, against a background of the sky. On the northern and southern walls, there are four silhouettes on architectural, painting consoles: the Archangels and Saints Cyril and Methodius in episcopal vestments. On the northern and southern walls of the nave, near the iconostasis, similar, are formal images of two saints: Olga of Kiev and Vladimir the Great. In the high recess of the dome, in the architectural aediculae, there are images of the Evangelists depicted in a sitting position, against a landscape background, in the company of the creatures of the Tetramorph, writing down the books of the Gospel. In the center of the dome, there is a round plafond with a representation of the Transfiguration. In a large illusionist architectural arcade above the wide clearance between the nave and the matroneum, there is an inscription from 1904 with information about the work carried out in the church since 1811, with the following content: This church is donated /by/ presbyter Andrej Wisłocki, church keeper Ioan Pyrcz and other founders of the Kotań group. Carpenter Andrej Madzelan of Izby. Decorated with a new iconostasis and painted in the Year / 1904 under the Pr / esbyter / Fr. E. Jurczakiewicz, and church keepers: Konstantyn Wisłocki, Klementia Parahuza, and Ioan Prusak. On the northern wall of the matroneum, there is a depiction of the Expulsion of the First Parents from Paradise, on the southern wall – the Sacrifice of Cain and Abel – Death of Abel. On the ceiling, there is a plafond with the image of the Theotokos Pokrov; in the background, behind the main figures of the lower row (the saints: Romanus, Macarius, Vladimir, and Olga), there are portrait images of clergy and laity – the founders of the church's painting interior (it was quite a common practice used by the youngest generation of painters from the Bogdański family when creating large groups of wall paintings). On the ceiling of the vestibule, there is a plafond with the representation of Christ Giving the Keys to St. Peter, with the Kwiatoń church on the rock in the background.

The church’s iconostasis, which is located between the sanctuary and the part of the temple intended for the faithful, is a frame, multi-zone structure with an axial composition and rich, woodcarving dismantling of the plane, stylistically and chronologically homogeneous. The inscriptions on individual icons are written in Church Slavonic. Artistic divisions in individual rows of the iconostasis have an architectural form and correspond to each other. It uses a decorative (full and openwork) woodcarving detail with Baroque forms. The frame is polychrome brown, with flame patterns. There is gold and silver-plated woodcarving as well as predellas with sculptural and ornament-like decorations. Moreover, the elevated entablature and arcade of the central icon of the Deesis cycle (Jesus the Great High Priest on a Throne) accentuate the vertical axis of the iconostasis. Horizontal cornices between individual rows are broken above the columns. Painting niches have profiled, gilded frames. The row of Sovereign and Great Feast icons is divided by spiral columns. Woodcarving decoration has been applied to the frame in the form of acanthus leaves, rosettes, and palmettes. The jambs of the Royal and Deacons’ Doors are closed with an arch. The row of Prophets is formed by oval cartouches in an openwork, sculptural frame flanking the central icon of Sabaoth – the Lord of Hosts, with a silhouette Crucifixion above. The icons were painted using oil and the tempera grassa technique, on a chalk and glue primer. The images from the Sovereign (lower) row and the Deesis cycle have a relief, gilded background. The row of Sovereign icons is made up of semi-length images of: the Theotokos Hodegetria, Christ Pantocrator, Saint Nicholas (on the northern side), and the icon of the church’s patron – Saint Paraskeva (on the southern side). The Royal and Deacons’ Doors are openwork (motif of a vine branch with clusters). On the Royal Doors, there are four tondos with images (busts) of the four Evangelists. The Deacons’ Doors have oval medallions with full-length images of the holy deacons Stephen and Lawrence. The row of Great Feast icons presents (from the north): the Nativity of the Theotokos, Annunciation, Christmas, Epiphany (Baptism of Jesus), Presentation of Christ in the Temple (the Meeting of our Lord), Entry into Jerusalem, Last Supper, Passion of the Christ – Christ Carrying the Cross, Resurrection of our Lord, Ascension of our Lord, Pentecost, Transfiguration, and the Dormition of the Theotokos. Above the Great Feast icons, there is the apostolic Deesis cycle with the central image of Christ on the throne, dressed in priestly robes. The Apostles are turned towards him, depicted in full-length, in pairs, in double arcades of six icons. On the right-hand side of Christ, we can see the following saints: Peter and Andrew, John and James the Less, Bartholomew and Simon; on the left: Paul and Matthew, Thomas and Philip, Jude and James the Great. In the finial, the icon of the Lord of Hosts is flanked by the icons of holy Prophets and Old Testament Kings, three on each side. Each of them depicts a pair of holy patriarchs, shown in half-length. On the northern side, from the middle: Aaron and Moses, Solomon and David, Jacob and Melchizedek; on the southern side; Gideon and Jeremiah, Ezekiel and Daniel, Isaiah and Jonah.

On the side walls of the church’s nave, there are two older iconostases with icons of the Theotokos Hodegetria from the mid-18th century and the Mourning (the Theotokos with the body of Christ, under the cross, assisted by the saints Mary Magdalene and John the Evangelist) from 1772 (originally, it might have been part of the Table of Oblation). On a wall of the sanctuary, there is an icon of the Elevation of the Holy Cross from 1904, made by Michał Bogdański.

The antependium of the modern Roman Catholic altar mensa set up in front of the iconostasis is an icon – a fragment of a Deesis architrave from the 2nd quarter of the 17th century, originally from the iconostasis found during restoration works in the church (rebuilt into the choir balustrade). In the old iconostasis, this architrave was located above the Sovereign icons and below the Crucifixion. The Greek term Deesis means an intercessory prayer. The axis of the painting composition consists of the image of Christ on a throne and the main advocates of people – the Theotokos and St. John the Baptist – turned towards him. Behind them, we can see the Apostles standing in prayer poses. At the height of the halos, there are Cyrillic inscriptions with the names of the figures. The elements that have survived to this day are the central representation of Christ, the Theotokos, John the Baptist, and the Archangels and most of the northern wing with images of five apostles: Peter, Matthew the Evangelist, Luke the Evangelist, Simon, and Bartholomew.

In the vestibule of the church, there is a stone baptismal font from 1750.

The museum collections contain old liturgical books from the church in Kwiatoń: Oktoich from 1639, purchased for the church after 1701 (previously used in the church in Horodysk near Dobromil, now the Historical Museum in Sanok), Ewangelion from 1670 (a collection of antique prints of the Orthodox Diocese of Przemyśl-Gorlice in Gorlice), and Trebnik (Library of the National Museum in Budapest, Ref. No. Q9.D).

About Saint Paraskeva, also known as: Petka of Serbia or Paraskeva of Tirnovo – the patronal saint of the temple.
She was born at the beginning of the 11th century in the Serbian village of Epivates. Her parents instilled in her a love for God. After their death, she led a life full of mortification and prayer. She went to Constantinople where she was a nun in the Church of the Theotokos Pokrov for some time. She then left Constantinople and went to the Jordanian desert in Palestine. After many years spent on prayer and ascetic practices, an Angel appeared, telling her to return to her homeland where she would entrust her soul to the Lord and her body to the earth. On her way back, Saint Paraskeva visited the temple of Holy Wisdom in Constantinople and prayed before the miraculous icon of the Theotokos of Blachernae. She died in Epivates, without telling anyone who she was. She was not buried in the cemetery, but some distance from the village. Some time later, when no one remembered where Paraskeva’s grave was located, a stylite chose that area for his religious practices. One day, it was also a site of an armed skirmish. One of the soldiers died there and his body was left on the battlefield. When decomposing, the dead body emitted such a strong odor that the stylite came off his pole and ordered people to bury the corpse. While digging a pit they came across a woman's body. However, they still threw the body of the soldier into the excavated grave and buried it. At night, a man named Gregory, who had participated in the burial of the soldier, saw in his dream a luminous figure of a tsarina on the throne, accompanied by angels. One of them asked Gregory why the stinking corpse had been buried together with the body of Saint Paraskeva, and the tsarina said that it was her body that had been buried in the forgotten grave and asked them to free the body from the stench of the soldier buried there. She also revealed that she had been born in Epivates, just like the villagers. One woman experienced a similar vision. The very next day, the body of the saint was taken to the local Church of Peter and Paul, which became the site of numerous miraculous acts of healing through the intercession of Saint Paraskeva. When John Asen II, Tsar of Bulgaria, learned about the relics and the miracles happening in their vicinity, he moved the body of Saint Paraskeva to Tirnovo. During the Turkish conquest, the saint’s relics were first transferred to Jassy in Romania, and in 1396 – to Belgrade. When in 1521 Sultan Suleiman II occupied Belgrade, he took the relics to Constantinople and put them in his palace, and then sold them to local Christians. They laid them in the patriarchal church. In 1641, through the intercession of the Moldovan hospodar, the body of Saint Paraskeva was put again in the monastery church in Jassy and her worship started spreading to the neighboring countries. The date of moving Saint Paraskeva’s relics, August 14, is celebrated as the feast day of Saint Paraskeva. In iconography, the saint is usually depicted in a baggy robe, covering her arms and head, worn on a long narrow tunic. Her hair is hidden under a coif. She holds a cross in her right hand, while her left one is open and raised up to her breast. She sometimes holds a scroll in her left hand. There are no significant differences in the way of portraying different versions of Saint Paraskeva. It is possible to identify them when the image contains representations relating to the life of the saint or her full name.
